
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRlCT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF OHIO 


WESTERN DIVISION 


UNITED STATES OF AMERlCA 
CASE NO. 1 I 09 CR 1'76 
INFORMATION 

vs. 
18 U.S.C. § 1349 
18 U.S.C. § 1519 

KEVIN MILLER 

Count 1 

18 U.S.C. § 1349 

Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud 


A. BackKround 


At all times relevant to the charges herein: 


1. Capital Investments ("CI") was an unincorporated entity doing business in Hamilton, 

Ohio. Beginning sometime in 2002, CI held itself out as an investment company offering attractive 

rates of return to numerous investors in Ohio, Kentucky, and Indiana on their investment, evidenced 

by promissory notes and purportedly backed by a real estate portfolio of properties owned and 

managed by Great Miami Real Estate, LLC ("GMRE"), an Ohio limited liability corporation. 

2. Great Miami Debentures ("GMD") was an unincorporated business entity purporting 

to issue mortgage security promissory notes on real estate properties owned by GMRE. 

3. As a general matter, promissory notes and mortgage security notes evidencing an 

investment backed by a debt instrument constitute "securities" within the meaning of federal and 

state securities laws, which require that unless exempt, any firm offering the sale of securities must 

be registered, and any person selling securities must be licensed as a securities salesperson. 
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4. A co-conspirator in the conspiracy described herein was the President and owner of 

CI, GMRE, and GMD. This co-conspirator was not licensed by the Ohio Division of Securities to 

sell securities. 

S. Neither Cl, GMRE, nor GMD were registered with the Ohio Division of Securities 

to sell securities. The securities sold by defendant and his co-conspirators were not exempt from 

registration. 

6. Midwest Marketing, also known as Midwest Marketing Alliance ("MMA"), was an 

unincorporated entity operated by another co-conspirator herein, now deceased. MMA was not 

registered with the Ohio Division of Securities to sell securities. The co-conspirator herein who 

operated MM, previously-licensed as a securities salesperson, was not licensed by the Ohio Division 

of Securities to sell securities after November 1999, when he surrendered his license after he was 

ordered to cease and desist in the fraudulent sale of unregistered securities known as FLIC. 

7. Fiserv (formerly known as First Trust Corporation and Retirement Solutions, Inc.) 

was an entity serving as an Individual Retirement Account "IRA" trustee/custodian for self-directed 

IRA accounts. Numerous investors rolled over pre-existing IRA accounts into promissory note/debt 

investments for various terms and interest rates with CI andlor GMD. The co-conspirator who 

operated CI and GMD executed a Declaration of Feasibility to establish a retirement plan with 

Fiserv. Fiserv agreed to serve as the Trustee/Custodian over the investors' IRA accounts for tax 

purposes, with the proceeds ofthe investors' promissory notes actually being collected by and loaned 

to the "debtor", that is, CI or OMD. Through his entity MMA, the co-conspirator referred to above 

was held out as a "disinterested independent third party entity or individual" Servicing Agent to carry 

out certain responsibilities on behalf of investors. 
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8. A previously-licensed securities salesperson, defendant KEVIN MILLER was twice 

ordered by the Ohio Division of Securities to cease and desist in the fraudulent sale ofunregistered 

securities, in November 1999 (relating to FLIC) and in February 2001 (relating to the sale of 

unregistered securities known as Tee to Green). 

9. Beginning sometime prior to 2002, defendant KEVIN MILLER was engaged in the 

business ofselling insurance. Defendant sold various insurance products to clients, including to DB 

and JB (husband and wife). DB and JB later invested money in CI based upon false and fraudulent 

representations by defendant KEVIN MILLER pursuant to the conspiracy described herein. 

B. The Conspiracy 

10. Beginning in or before May 2005, and continuing up to and induding the date ofthis 

Information, in the Southern District ofOhio and elsewhere, the defendant, KEVIN MILLER, did 

unlawfully, knowingly, and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with other persons 

to commit, among other crimes, mail fraud, l8U.S.C. § 134l,inviolationofI8U.S.C. § 1349. 

C. The Scheme to Defraud 

11. Beginning in or before May 2005, and continuing up to and including the date ofthis 

Information, in the Southern District ofOhio and elsewhere, the defendant, KEVIN MILLER, and 

his co-conspirators (hereafter "the conspirators") knowingly devised and intended to devise a scheme 

and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property from numerous victims under the guise of 

a purported investment in CI, GMD, or GMRE, or any of them, or any other entities known or 

unknown, by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

D. Manner and Means of the Conspiracy 

12. The conspirators would offer investments to numerous victims, many ofwhom were 

elderly, unsophisticated, or inexperienced investors. In addition, many ofthe victims attended the 
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Princeton Pike Church of God in Fairfield, Ohio with two of the conspirators, and some of the 

investors were also insurance clients of the conspirators. Thus, the conspirators took advantage of 

the trust developed through this common church affiliation and prior insurance agency relationship, 

as weB as the advanced age and lack of financial sophistication of many of the investors. 

13. Consistent with a classic Ponzi-type scheme, the conspirators fraudulently obtained, 

and then converted to their own use, investor monies under the guise ofa legitimate investment. As 

part of the conspiracy, interest payments were made to some earlier investors with money obtained 

from later investors to create the appearance of a profitable investment and to lull the victims into 

a false sense of security, until the money was gone and the entire investment scheme collapsed. 

More than 80 victims lost a11 their investments, valued in excess of $7 million, with many victims 

losing their life savings. 

14. The conspirators would induce victims to roll over their pre-existing IRA's into 

investments in promissory notes or debt investments with CI or GMD, using Fiserv as an IRA 

Trustee/Custodian. In a Declaration of Administrative Feasibility submitted to Fiserv to open 

retirement plan accounts for investors, a co-conspirator falsely agreed on behalf of CI or GMD to 

provide investors "with all information and documentation regarding their investment," and further 

agreed to appoint a "disinterested third party entity" as Servicing Agent /Entity to carry out certain 

responsibilities on behalf of the note holders (investors). In fact, the conspirators did not provide 

the investors with all information about, among other things, the Real Estate Portfolio purportedly 

backing their investments. In addition, the Servicing Agent/Entity was not a disinterested third party 

but rather, was a co-conspirator who operated MMA and who personally fraudulently obtained 

victims' investments pursuant to the conspiracy; 
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15. In furtherance of the conspiracy, the conspirators made false and fraudulent 

representations and promises, and failed to disclose known material information, to the victim 

investors in order to induce them to invest money in CI or GMD, or all of them, or any other entities 

known or unknown, including, but not limited to: 

a. 	 falsely promising guaranteed rates of return on their investments exceeding their 

current investment rates; 

b. 	 falsely representing to the victims that their investments were safe and sound, that the 

principal amount was without risk or 100% guaranteed, and that their investments 

were FDIC-insured; 

c. 	 falsely representing that the victims' investments were backed by equity in real estate 

properties purchased or developed with investor monies, owned by GMRE and 

located in the HamiltonIMiddletownlFairfield, Ohio area, and in Florida, when, in 

fact, many ofsuch properties were not purchased or developed with investor monies 

and were not owned by GMRE but rather, were owned by one ofthe conspirators, or 

the spouse or parent of a conspirator, and by November 2007 many of the properties 

lacked substantial equity, were in a state ofdisrepair, were in default, or were in some 

stage of foreclosure; 

d. 	 presenting to victims one of several versions of a document titled "Real Estate 

Portfolio" which purported to list the properties backing the victims' investments in 

CI by address, with the value, debt, income, and payment for each property, which 

falsely represented, in portfolios dated from December 2002 to September 2007, that 

the number of CI properties increased from 13 properties to 40 properties and the 
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value ofthe properties increased from $4 million to over $14 million with an overall 

property equity ofabout $10.5 million when, in fact, many ofthe properties listed on 

the portfolios were not purchased with investor monies, were owned by others or had 

no record of existence at all, and by November 2007 many of such properties were 

in a state of disrepair, were in default, or were in some stage of foreclosure; 

e. 	 falsely confirming in monthly statements to victims the principal amount of their 

initial investment plus interest earned, when, in fact, by or before November 2007, 

the investors' money was gone and the conspirators were scrambling each month to 

come up with the monthly interest payments being made to certain of the investors; 

f. 	 falsely representing in periodic lulling letters to victims from the president ofCI, a 

co-conspirator herein, that the victims' investments were sound and doing well, 

including falsely representing in a January 8, 2008 letter that CI was a "success" and 

continued to be "an active player in the investment industry" providing "yields that 

are higher than those found elsewhere in the marketplace" when, in fact, by or before 

November 2007 the investors' money was gone, with many of the properties which 

purported to back the victims' investments in or approaching foreclosure; and 

h. 	 failing to disclose to investors that the promissory notes/securities being sold by CI, 

GMRE, or GMD, or all of them, or any other entity known or unknown, were 

unregistered, that the conspirators were not licensed to sell securities, that the 

conspirator who operated MMA and who obtained most ofthe investments pursuant 

to the conspiracy had surrendered his securities sales license after he was ordered to 

cease and desist in the prior fraudulent sale of unregistered securities, and failing to 
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disclose that defendant KEVIN MILLER also had surrendered his securities sales 

license after he was twice ordered to cease and desist in the prior fraudulent sale of 

unregistered securities. 

E. 	 Overt Ads 

16. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects of the conspiracy, the 

following overt acts, among others, were committed by one or more of the conspirators in the 

Southern District of Ohio and elsewhere: 

a. 	 sometime in 2004 or 2005, the defendant KEVIN MILLER met with a co

conspirator, operator ofMMA, and agreed to seek out investors to invest money into 

CI or GMD. and agreed to falsely represent to investors that their investments would 

be safe and would be backed by income-producing commercial and industrial 

properties owned by a local real estate development firm, in exchange for a sales 

commission to be paid to defendant, and 

b. 	 sometime in or after 1une 2005, the defendant KEVIN MILLER obtained 

investments in CI and GMD totaling approximately $134,353 from investors DB and 

lB, who were husband and wife and who at the time also were insurance clients of 

defendant's, based on defendant's false and fraudulent representations that the 

investment was safe and backed by a locally-owned real estate firm with income

producing properties, with a guaranteed rate of return on the investment of 6.65%; 

and 

c. 	 as to the investment of DB, the defendant KEVIN MILLER induced DB to roll 

over the funds in her existing IRA, in the amount of$45,990.77, into an investment 

with CIIGMD ,and thereafter used and caused the use of the U.S. Mails as follows: 
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1. Defendant caused DB to fill out and have placed in the U.S. Mails various 

documents to authorize the transfer of her IRA account into a promissory 

note investment with CIIGMD, through a Fiserv retirement plan account with 

Fiserv as the Trustee/Custodian of the IRA account, and with the co

conspirator who operated MMA named as the "disinterested third party 

account representative"; 

2. 	 Defendant thereafter caused a co-conspirator who was the president ofCI and 

GMD to send through the U.S. Mail to DB a document reflecting the transfer 

of the funds in DB's IRA account into CIIOMD; and 

3. 	 Defendant or his co-conspirators caused a letter dated January 8, 2008 to be 

sent to DB and JB through the U.S. Mail, representing that CI was a 

"success" and continued to be "an active player in the investment industry" 

providing "yields that are higher than those found elsewhere in the 

marketplace" when, in fact, by or before November 2007 all investors' money 

was gone, with many of the properties which purported to back the victims' 

investments in or approaching foreclosure. 

All in violation of 18 U.S.c. § 1349. 


COUNT 2 

18 U.S.C. § 1519 


Obstruction of Investigation 


F. 	 Ohio Division of Securities Investigation and Ouestionnaires 

17. The allegations in paragraphs 1-16 ofCount 1, above, are incorporated by reference 

into this Count as if fully set forth herein. 
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18. The Ohio Division ofSecurities ("ODS") is responsible for the regulation ofthe sale 

ofsecurities in the State ofOhio and the enforcement ofthe Ohio Securities Act, which prohibits the 

sale of unregistered, nonexempt securities and the sale of securities through a scheme to defraud. 

19. In about June 2008, the ODS sent to each investor DB and JB a questionnaire 

pertaining to an ODS investigation then being conducted into the activities of CI/GMD, or related 

entities, and their principals, who are co-conspirators in the conduct described in Count I herein. 

The questionnaire sought information about DB and JB's investment in CIIGMD, described in 

paragraph 17 above, including the amount and terms of the investment, and the name, date, and 

representations made by the individual who presented and obtained the investment of DB and JB. 

20. The ODS investigation and questionnaire related to the conspiracy described in Count 

1 herein, which is a matter within the jurisdiction ofa department or agency ofthe United States, that 

is, a matter involving the enforcement of federal laws by the Federal Bureau of Investigation, the 

U.S. Postal Inspection Service, and the U.S. Department of Justice. 

21. After DB and JB received these Questionnaires from OSD, they contacted defendant 

KEVIN MILLER, who agreed to assist them in filling out the Questionnaires. DB and JB each 

signed their questionnaire in blank, and gave both questionnaires to defendant KEVIN MILLER 

to fill out and return by mail to OSD. 

22. Defendant KEVIN MILLER filled out each ofthe two questionnaires, one for DB 

and one for JB, in which he falsely stated in each questionnaire that it was his co-conspirator, the 

operator of MMA, who contacted DB and JB to present and obtain their investment in CIIGMD, 

when in fact, as defendant KEVIN MILLER then well knew, he was the person who presented and 

obtained the investments ofDB and JB pursuant to the conspiracy, and that DB and JB had not met 

with nor had any contact with the co-conspirator at any time. 
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G. Obstruction Relatin~ to or in Contemplation of the Federal Investigation 

23. Sometime on or after June 18,2008, in the Southern District of Ohio, the defendant, 

KEVIN MILLER, knowingly faJsified a document, that is, the ODS Questionnaires for investors 

DB and JB, in which he also knowingly concealed or covered up a matter within the jurisdiction of 

a department or agency ofthe United States, or acted in relation to or contemplation of such matter, 

with the intent to impede, obstruct, or influence the investigation or proper administration of such 

matter, by having DB and JB each sign their questionnaire in blank and thereafter by placing false 

information in each questionnaire, without their knowledge, falsely stating that a co-conspirator had 

contacted DB and JB to present and obtain their investments in CI/OMD when in fact, as defendant 

KEVIN MILLER then well knew, he was the person who contacted DB and JB to present and 

obtain their investments in CUOMD by false and fraudulent representations, thereby concealing and 

covering up his involvement in the fraudulent investment scheme described in Count 1 herein, and 

thereafter defendant KEVIN MILLER submitted each questionnaire to ODS so that it appeared that 

DB and JB filled out and signed the questionnaire, which false information and concealment of his 

participation in the fraudulent investment scheme was in relatipn to or contemplation of the federal 

matter; 

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1519. 

CARTER M. STEWART 
United States Attorney 

ANTHO~67716)
Deputy Criminal Chief 
221 East Fourth Street, Suite 400 
Cincinnati, Ohio 45202 
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